1950

# State of Utah v. Robert C. Lawrence : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

charged

The defendant was ~~convicted~~ with the theft of one certain 1947 Ford Automobile, same being of a value in excess of \$50. (R6).

At the close of all the evidence and after both sides had rested, the defendant made the following motion,

"The defendant moves the court to direct the jury to find the defendant not guilty upon the ground and for the reason that there is no evidence whatsoever in the entire record as to the value of this automobile." (R106).

After remarks by counsel, the court said:

"The jury will be instructed that the value of the automobile is more than \$50.00 (R106).

It is an elementary rule in criminal law that the burden is upon the State to prove each element of the crime charged by evidence, and beyond a reasonable doubt. It is also essential in grand larceny cases in Utah to prove the property alleged to have been stolen had a value in excess of \$50. Utah Code 1943, 103-38-4.

In discussing the point here involved, the Supreme Court of Oklahoma, in Blackwell vs State said:

"It has long been the rule of the courts that without proof of the value of the property stolen, there can be no conviction for larceny. It is essential to prove the value of the property in order to establish the grade of the offense and the penalty to be imposed. In the absence of any evidence on the subject of value, the court nor the jury could not indulge in presumptions to support the omission. It is not necessary that the goods alleged to have been stolen be proved to be the value charged in the indictment, but it must show that they are

-9-

of some value."

In State vs Jenkins, the court disposed of the question with this terse statement:

"A conviction for grand larceny can not stand where there is no evidence of the value of the goods stolen."

In Holland vs State we find:

"There are some authorities that hold that it is necessary neither to allege nor prove value in larceny cases, except for the purpose of fixing the degree of the crime. In this case, however, there was no proof offered to show the value of the watch alleged to have been stolen, and the evidence failed to show that the watch in question was taken from the person of the owner as alleged."

To the same effect are the other cases cited herein and the authorities seem to be unanimous throughout this country.

#### Point 2.

**THE COURTS CAN NOT TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE VALUE OF ANY PARTICULAR ARTICLE OR SERVICE.**

Telephone Co. vs DeGray, 53 At 200  
Van Hagoner vs Whotmore, 199 P 670  
Slackwell vs State 56 P2nd 914  
16 Cyc 858  
31 CJS 701

In Telephone C. vs DeGray, the Supreme Court of N.J. said:

:There is a clear distinction between an instruction which permits jurors to use the knowledge and experience which they possess as intelligent men, in weighing the evidence or testing its creditability, and an instruction which permits them to apply their personal knowledge and experience to the determination of the issues in the case."

In Van Wagoner vs Whitmore, our court said:

"This court cannot take judicial notice of the fact, or assume as a matter of common knowledge, that the land would not produce two tons of lucern per acre without irrigation, or that its market value when baled, would not be \$15.00 per ton....."

Slackwell vs State:

"In the absence of any evidence on the subject of value, the court nor the jury could not indulge in presumptions to support the omission."

Beginning on page 849 16 Cyc, the author begins his discussion of the subject of Judicial Notice wherein is a thorough treatise on what may, and what may not be



judicially noticed. The same topic is treated under the title of Evidence in 31 CJS and other text writers are unanimously in accord in holding that courts can not take judicial notice of the value of specific items of personal property.

Point 3.

NO PERSON SHALL BE TWICE PUT IN JEOPARDY FOR THE SAME OFFENSE

State vs Hows, 87 P 163  
State vs Gowan, 182 SE 159  
U.S. vs Olmstead, 5 Fed 2nd 712  
U.S. Constitution, Amdt V  
Utah Constitution, Art I Sec 12

In State vs Hows our court said:

"The jury having been empaneled and sworn ~~to~~ try the case, the defendant was thereby placed in jeopardy and cannot again be tried for the crime charged in the information, or for any offense included therein."

U.S. vs Olmstead:

"A judgment is a bar to subsequent prosecution for any offense which could have been proven under the indictment."

In State vs Gowan the defendant moved for a dismissal before the state had rested

and upon a subsequent prosecution, he was convicted without objection and on appeal the court ruled that the dismissal was brought about by the defendant, before the state had produced all of its evidence, and proceeded to the second trial without objection until after the conviction, and for these reasons he could not complain. This case is cited for the express purpose of emphasizing the procedure followed in the case at bar.

Now lets examine the record: The defendant was duly charged in the City Court (R5), and arraigned on May 6th, 1950, a preliminary hearing held and the defendant bound over to the District Court for trial, (R2). Pursuant thereto, the District Attorney filed a valid Information, (R6). To this information the defendant pleaded Not Guilty, (R6). In due course a jury was duly empaneled to try the issues, (R25). A full and complete trial was held, evidence introduced on behalf of

both parties, both parties rested and the court instructed the jury, (R25 to 111).

This record discloses jurisdiction by the court of both, the offense charged and the person of the defendant.

The State had its day in court. It was incumbent on the State to prove its entire case while it was then trying the case. It even could have reopened its case and supplied the lacking evidence after it was called to its attention that such proof had not been produced; it failed to do so, but to the contrary, elected to rely upon the record and the evidence as it then stood, and purposely refused to produce the required evidence, and in this the defendant contends that a second trial is exactly what the framers of both constitutions intended should not be done. In other words, the process of trial and failure and then try again is expressly prohibited when the life

or liberty of a human being is at stake.

This case is distinguishable from that line of authority which hold that there is no jeopardy in cases where the court had no jurisdiction of the subject matter or the defendant, or where there is no valid complaint or information upon which the court can proceed. Nor is the rule applicable as stated in the Gowan case where the difficulty was brought about on motion of the defendant himself.

We contend that as a matter of law the defendant had a legal right to rely on the lack of proof on behalf of the State, and until the State established a prima facie case against him he was entitled to an acquittal without making any affirmative defense.

### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, let's say a word about the status of the defendant. He stands convicted and sentenced on a charge which the State has failed to support by sufficient evidence,

-10-

at least as to grand larceny. We submit  
take under the evidence, there was  
sufficient evidence to convict for petit  
larceny, Utah Code 1943, Section 103-36-5,  
but the State repudiated this statute at  
the trial and insisted on whole hog or  
nothing, (R 111, Instruction No.9).

Exparte McClure, 118 P 591, was a case  
whersin the petitioner had been legally and  
lawfully convicted of disturbing the peace  
and given an excessive sentence, and the court  
held that the trial court had no jurisdiction  
to impose a sentence not provided for by  
statute and discharged the petitioner. Our  
own court recognized this rule in Connor  
vs Pratt, 112 P 399, and set aside the exces-  
sive portion of the sentence and remanded  
the petitioner to serve the valid portion  
of the sentence, In Exparte Moon Fook, 12 P  
803, the petitioner was discharged when it  
appeared too late to impose the proper  
sentence.

In *Exparte Taná*, 91 P 137, the petitioner was ordered out of the State Prison to the County Jail where he should have been sentenced in the first instance.

In the we respectfully submit that upon the choice of the State, the defendant should be discharged forthwith; or second, in the event this court does not feel disposed to accept the challenge of the State, then the defendant should be remanded to the Sheriff of Salt Lake County to complete a term of six months from June 24th 1950, or if six months have already expired, he should be discharged. (R 16, 105-35-4).