1950

State of Utah v. Robert C. Lawrence : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from the verdict and judgment of conviction of grand larceny for theft of an automobile. The only testimony in the record to support value of the property stolen was that of the owner of the vehicle, Mr. Stanley LeRoy Allen, Jr., to the effect that the automobile was a model 1947 Ford two-door sedan in excellent condition.

At the closing of the case and before instructions to the jury, counsel for the defendant moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that there was no evidence as to the value of

the automobile taken (R. 106). This motion was denied and in instruction No. 8 the court stated in part:

" * * * In this case you will take the value of this property as being in excess of \$50.00 and therefore the defendant, if he is guilty at all, is guilty of grand larceny (R. 108).

Under the issues raised by defendant on appeal, these are the only material facts:

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

IN VIEW OF THE FACT THAT REASONABLE MINDS CANNOT DIFFER ON THE QUESTION WHETHER A MODEL 1947 FORD TWO-DOOR SEDAN IN EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCEEDS \$50.00 IN VALUE, THERE IS NO ERROR IN INSTRUCTION NO. 8.

POINT II.

DEFENDANT, BY TAKING THIS APPEAL, HAS WAIVED THE PLEA OF FORMER JEOPARDY IN THE EVENT OF REVERSAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

INSTRUCTION NO. 8 WAS NOT ERROR BECAUSE REASONABLE MINDS COULD NOT DIFFER ON THE PROPOSITION THAT A MODEL 1947 FORD TWO-DOOR

SEDAN IN EXCELLENT CONDITION EXCEEDS \$50.00 IN VALUE.

We concede that, where there is no evidence at all upon which value of property stolen may be based, a conviction of grand larceny under Section 103-36-4 (1), Utah Code Annotated, 1943, cannot stand. However, the record of this case shows that the property taken was a model 1947 Ford two-door sedan in excellent condition. Defendant on this appeal does not put in issue the question whether he actually stole this property. He does not attack the conviction on the grounds that he did not commit an act of larceny. His position is merely that, because the prosecuting attorney did not place testimony in the record of the monetary value of the automobile stolen, this court should reverse and remand for dismissal or directions to enter a verdict of guilty of petit larceny. He apparently concedes that a model 1947 Ford two-door sedan in excellent condition has *some* value.

We respectfully submit that as a matter of general knowledge a model 1947 Ford two-door sedan in excellent condition is worth far in excess of \$50.00 and that the minds of reasonable men could not differ on this point. It would be absurd indeed to urge that the stealing of such a vehicle should be punished as petit larceny. In view of this, we respectfully submit that the court did not commit prejudicial error in giving instruction No. 8.

We have been unable to find authority in point on this issue. However, cases cited by defendant involve property, the value of which is highly debatable, or property, the value of which may be so close to the minimum amount for grand

larceny and about which reasonable men might differ, such as to warrant reversal, or cases where there is *no* evidence on which value may be inferred. We believe the facts of this case are easily distinguishable from those of authorities cited.

POINT II.

DEFENDANT, BY TAKING THIS APPEAL, HAS WAIVED THE PLEA OF FORMER JEOPARDY IN THE EVENT OF REVERSAL.

Defendant in his argument under Point three constructs an ingenious proposition to the effect that the defendant has been once in jeopardy by reason of the trial of this case, that the alleged error in failing to prove value of the property stolen justifies reversal, and in view of the fact that he has been once in jeopardy this court must either reverse and remand with directions to dismiss or reverse and remand with directions to enter a judgment of guilty of petit larceny.

We believe this is a misapprehension of the law, and defendant, by appealing from the verdict and judgment has waived a plea of jeopardy. Defendant does not contend that the record shows no crime was committed; he does not assert that he could *not* be guilty of larceny in one degree or another. The record amply supports the finding that he stole the automobile. If the failure of the prosecuting attorney to put in testimony as to the monetary value of the automobile be reversible error, then we maintain that defendant is at most entitled to a new trial.

In the case of *People vs. Travers*, 19 Pac. 268, 77 Cal.

176, defendant had been charged with an attempt to commit burglary, without specification of the degree. A verdict of "guilty as charged" was returned, and judgment entered, from which he appealed. The case was reversed and remanded for new trial. Defendant then filed a supplementary plea of once in jeopardy. The California Supreme Court held that such a plea did not lie, stating in part:

"If, however, the court had no jurisdiction of the cause, or if the indictment or information was so defective that no valid judgment could be rendered upon it; or if, by any overruling necessity, the jury are discharged without a verdict, or the jury are discharged with the consent of the defendant, either express or implied; or if, after verdict against the accused, it has been set aside on his motion for a new trial, or on writ of error, or in arrest of judgment,—in all these, and a few other cases which might be enumerated, the accused may again be put upon trial, and the proceedings had will constitute no protection. * * * When the defendant appealed from the judgment, and procured a reversal, one of the effects of which was the ordering of a new trial, the judgment and verdict in such a case must be assumed to be set aside at the instance of the defendant, upon the theory that he who procures the reversal or affirmance of a judgment impliedly assents to all the consequences legitimately following such reversal or affirmance."

The rule is stated thus in 22 Corpus Juris Secundum 275, p. 411, "Criminal Law":

" * * * An accused person waives his right to plead former jeopardy by applying for a new trial. When, therefore, a new trial is granted in the appellate court, and he is reindicted, or is tried on the original indictment, accused cannot plead, as a bar to the prosecution,

the conviction which was reversed on the appeal, even though he had not asked for a new trial."

See also *People vs. Stratton*, 28 P2d. 695, 136 Cal App 201, and *People vs. Eppinger*, 41 Pac. 1037, 109 Cal 294.

In view of the fact that there is no question but that defendant committed larceny of one degree or another, in event this Court finds error in the trial court's instruction No. 8, then we submit that the case should be remanded for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

The record amply supports the finding that the defendant stole the automobile in question. Nowhere in his appeal does defendant deny this or urge that the record does not support a finding of larceny. Merely to state that theft of a model 1947 Ford two-door sedan in excellent condition could be petit larceny appears ludicrous. We respectfully submit that the trial court did not commit prejudicial error in taking judicial notice that such an automobile is worth more than \$50.00.

Further, we respectfully submit that, if the trial court thus committed prejudicial error, then defendant is at most entitled to a new trial, and if such trial be ordered, he cannot plead jeopardy.